Kean University Kean Digital Learning Commons

Middle States Information and Publications

2011

Middle States Bylaws

Middle States Commission on Higher Education

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.kean.edu/ middle_states_information_and_publications

Recommended Citation

on Higher Education, Middle States Commission, "Middle States Bylaws" (2011). *Middle States Information and Publications*. 5. https://digitalcommons.kean.edu/middle_states_information_and_publications/5

This Policies and Procedures is brought to you for free and open access by Kean Digital Learning Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Middle States Information and Publications by an authorized administrator of Kean Digital Learning Commons. For more information, please contact learningcommons@kean.edu.

THE MIDDLE STATES ASSOCIATION OF COLLEGES AND SCHOOLS

(A Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation)

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

Adopted and Effective as of January 1, 2011

ARTICLE I NAME, OFFICE AND PURPOSE

Section 1.01. Name and Office.

The name of the corporation shall be The Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "Association"). The principal office of the Association shall be located at 3624 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104-2680. The Association may have such other offices within or without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as the Board of Trustees may designate from time to time.

Section 1.02. Purposes.

(a) The Association is organized to promote charitable and educational activities within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and is incorporated under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law for any lawful purpose for which a nonprofit corporation may operate under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania including, in particular, the following:

(i) To accredit, through its separate and independent Commissions, educational institutions and programs located inside or outside the United States, including, but not limited to, the States of Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey and New York, the Commonwealths of Puerto Rico and Pennsylvania, the District of Columbia and the U.S. Virgin Islands;

(ii) To initiate and sustain such research as may be consistent with the general purposes of the Association;

(iii) To provide an aegis under which representatives of elementary schools, secondary schools, institutions of higher education and other education organizations may meet for the discussion of educational problems and in the common pursuit of solutions to these problems; and

(iv) To cooperate with educational, quality assurance and other agencies in providing services and accreditation.

(b) The Association is a non-governmental, voluntary organization of educational institutions committed to excellence in all levels across the continuum of education, whose purposes are to encourage, advance, assist and sustain the quality and integrity of education. In order to achieve these purposes in the public interest, the Association shall establish appropriate

criteria and levels of educational excellence and effectiveness, and work with other organizations, agencies, and institutions to achieve cooperation and coordination between and among schools, colleges and universities.

ARTICLE II GOVERNANCE

Section 2.01. Board of Trustees.

Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Board of Trustees shall have full power to conduct, manage and direct the business and affairs of the Association, and all powers of the Association are hereby granted to and vested in the Board of Trustees in accordance with Article IV of these Bylaws.

ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP

Section 3.01. General.

(a) The voting members of the Board of Trustees shall constitute the members of the Association for all purposes under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law. Meetings of the members of the Association shall be conducted in accordance with the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law and these Bylaws at such location within or without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Trustees. Voting by proxy shall not be permitted. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the members of the Association may be taken without a meeting if all members consent thereto in writing and the written consents or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the members.

(b) The Association also shall include a class of Institutional Members, a class of Commission Members and a class of Organizational Members. In no event, however, shall the foregoing classes of members be deemed members of the Association for any purpose under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law.

(c) The Board of Trustees shall establish and maintain all regulations and conditions governing membership in the Association; however, in according membership therein, or the privileges thereof, the Board shall not discriminate against an institution or organization on the basis of race, color, sexual orientation, marital status, religion, sex, national origin, age, or disability of any person associated with the institution or organization being considered for such membership.

(d) The Board of Trustees shall have no authority to assess any dues upon Institutional and Commission Members without the advance approval of the Commissions.

Section 3.02. Institutional Membership.

(a) Any educational institution, other education provider or unit thereof approved by an individual Commission will be received into membership of the Association as an

Institutional Member upon payment of the annual membership dues, provided such institution or unit:

(i) Has a charter and/or formal authority from the appropriate governmental agency, if required, or another entity accepted by a Commission; and

(ii) Fulfills the candidacy or accreditation requirements of the appropriate Commission.

(b) Membership of an Institutional Member shall cease whenever such member withdraws voluntarily, is removed from the accredited list by a Commission in accordance with its standards and procedures, or fails to pay the annual membership dues for two (2) successive years, unless waived by the appropriate Commission upon a showing of good cause.

Section 3.03. Commission Membership.

The Middle States Commission on Higher Education ("MSCHE"), the Middle States Commission on Secondary Schools ("MSCSS") and the Middle States Commission on Elementary Schools ("MSCES") shall comprise the class of Commission Members. Each Commission, acting through its elected commissioners, shall have the right to appoint four (4) members to the Board of Trustees and, in addition, the President of the Commission of each Commission shall be an *ex officio*, non-voting member of the Board of Trustees.

Section 3.04. Organizational Membership.

(a) Any Commission may grant Organizational membership to:

(i) The office of any national, state or local department of public education, or any system of public colleges or universities, or church-related or sponsored schools, or independent schools; or

(ii) Any educational association, organization or agency, whether public or private in nature, whose membership will, in the judgment of the appropriate Commission, assist such Commission in achieving its objectives.

(b) Membership of an Organizational Member shall cease whenever such member withdraws voluntarily, is removed from membership by the Board of Trustees or any Commission for cause or fails to pay the annual membership dues for two (2) successive years, unless waived by the appropriate Commission upon a showing of good cause.

Section 3.05. Affiliate Membership.

(a) Any Commission may grant Affiliate Membership to a business, service provider or professional association that provides products, programs, or services to educational organizations or otherwise have been recommended by a Member of the Association. The process for approving such Affiliate Members and their rights and obligations shall be established by the Commission and approved by the Board of Trustees. (b) Membership of an Affiliate Member shall cease whenever such member voluntarily withdraws, is removed from membership by the approving Commission, or fails to pay the annual dues, unless waived by the appropriate Commission.

ARTICLE IV THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 4.01. General.

(a) Except as provided otherwise in these Bylaws, the business and affairs of the Association shall be managed under the direction of the Board of Trustees (the "Board"), which shall establish policies for the fulfillment of the purposes of the Association stated in Article I. As provided in Article VI and elsewhere in these Bylaws, the Board shall vest upon each Commission certain rights, powers and legal duties and obligations conferred or imposed upon the Board by the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law or in these Bylaws.

(b) The Board shall adopt an operating and capital budget for the common administration and occupancy expenses of the Association (other than the direct expenses of each Commission adopted under Section 6.02(b)(viii)) and submit the budgets to the Commissions in advance of each fiscal year. Each Commission shall pay its proportionate share of the Association's common expenses as determined by the allocation methodology set forth in <u>Schedule A</u> to these Bylaws. Such allocation methodology shall continue in force an effect as approved unless and until any modification is agreed upon by each of the Commissions by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Commission members present and voting at a duly called Commission meeting and adopted by an affirmative vote of at least three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Board.

Section 4.02. Number, Membership and Term of Office.

(a) The Board of Trustees shall consist of sixteen (16) members, comprised of the following:

- (i) Four (4) Trustees designated by the MSCHE;
- (ii) Four (4) Trustees designated by the MSCSS;
- (iii) Four (4) Trustees designated by the MSCES; and
- (iv) Four (4) *ex officio*, non-voting Trustees, who shall hold office by virtue of their position, as follows:
 - (A) President of the Commission of the MSCHE;
 - (B) President of the Commission of the MSCSS;
 - (C) President of the Commission of the MSCES; and
 - (D) Executive Vice President of the Association.

(b) The Trustees designated by the Commissions shall be selected by each Commission in accordance with policies and procedures such Commission may adopt from time to time. Each Trustee, in accepting such appointment to the Board, shall have the duty to perform his or her duties in the best interests of the Association rather than in the particular interests of the Commission which appointed such Trustee. (c) Each of the twelve (12) Trustees designated by the Commissions shall be appointed for a term of three (3) years commencing on the January 1 immediately following such Trustee's appointment to the Board and may hold office until the expiration of the term for which such Trustee was appointed and until a successor has been designated by the Commission which appointed such Trustee to the Board or until such Trustee's earlier death, resignation or removal. A Trustee appointed to fill a vacancy shall commence service immediately and shall serve the balance of the term of the Trustee he or she has replaced. No Trustee designated by the Commissions may serve more than two full terms; provided, however, that if a Trustee's term will expire while such Trustee is an officer of the Association, such Trustee's term as a member of the Board shall be automatically extended for such period as is necessary to make it coterminous with such Trustee's term as an officer.

Section 4.03. Resignations and Vacancies.

(a) Any Trustee may resign at any time effective upon giving written notice to the Board, unless the notice specifies a later time for the effectiveness of such resignation. If the resignation is effective at a future time, a successor may be designated before such time to take office when the resignation becomes effective. Resignation as a Trustee shall also constitute resignation as a member of all committees of the Board.

(b) All vacancies in the Board, including those existing as the result of the removal of a Trustee, shall be filled in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.02. Each Trustee designated to fill a vacancy shall hold office in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.02.

(c) A vacancy or vacancies shall be deemed to exist in the case of the death or resignation of any Trustee.

Section 4.04. Removal.

Any Trustee may be removed from office by the voting members of the Board of Trustees, upon recommendation of the Executive Committee and notice by the Executive Committee to the Commission represented by such trustee, without assignment of cause except in the case of a Trustee who also is an officer of the Association and may be removed only in accordance with Section 5.04. A vote to remove a Trustee from the Board shall be by majority of the Trustees present and eligible to vote. The Trustee whose removal is being considered may not participate in the vote concerning his or her removal. In the event that any Trustee shall be so removed, a new Trustee shall be selected to replace such Trustee in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.02. Removal as a Trustee shall also constitute removal as a member of all committees of the Board. The Board of Trustees shall not take any corporate action requiring a three-fourths (¾) vote until the earlier of thirty (30) days from the date of the Board's notice to the Commission of the removal action or the appointment of a new Commission trustee to fill the vacancy of the affected Commission.

Section 4.05. Meetings.

(a) There shall be at least three (3) regular meetings of the Board of Trustees each calendar year. The Board of Trustees shall fix the date, place and time of each meeting. In

addition, special meetings may be called by the President or by any other officer of the Association at the request of four (4) members of the Board of Trustees.

(b) Notice shall be sent to each Trustee at least thirty days in advance of each regular meeting of the Board and at least ten (10) days in advance of any special meeting of the Board. Notice shall be sent to each Trustee by first-class mail or by a reputable overnight delivery service (*e.g.*, Federal Express), charges prepaid, or by e-mail, addressed to each Trustee at that Trustee's address as it is shown on the records of the Association for the purposes of such notice. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If sent by overnight delivery service, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered with such delivery service, charges prepaid. If sent by e-mail, such notice shall be deemed to have been delivered when the electronic transmission has been completed.

(c) The Board shall hold one of its regular meetings in December of each calendar year and such meeting shall constitute the annual meeting of the Board. The voting members of the Board, as the members of the Association for all purposes under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law, also shall hold an annual meeting on such date.

Section 4.06. Quorum and Manner of Acting.

At all meetings of the Board of Trustees, the presence of a majority of the voting members of the Board shall be necessary to constitute a quorum and to transact business. Any act of a majority present at a meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Trustees, except as may be otherwise required by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Trustees, the Trustees present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. Voting by proxy shall not be permitted.

Section 4.07. Telephone Meetings Permitted.

Members of the Board of Trustees, or any Committee designated by the Board of Trustees, may participate in a meeting thereof by means of conference telephone call or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in the meeting pursuant to this Section 4.07 shall constitute the presence of a person at such meeting.

Section 4.08. Organization.

At every meeting of the Board of Trustees, the President or, in the case of the President's absence, the Vice President or, in the case of the Vice President's absence, a Trustee designated by the Trustees, shall preside as chairperson. The chairperson may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 4.09. Action by Written Consent.

Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Trustees or of any Committee thereof may be taken without a meeting if all voting members of the Board or

Committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing and the written consents or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or any Committee.

Section 4.10. Waiver of Notice.

Notice of a meeting need not be given to any Trustee who signs a waiver of notice or a written consent to the holding of a meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to such Trustee. All such waivers, consents and approvals shall be filed with the corporate records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting.

Section 4.11. Committees of the Board

(a) The Board of Trustees shall have the following standing committees:

Executive Committee Finance Committee Human Resources Committee Policy Committee Nominating Committee

From time to time the Board of Trustees may, by resolution, establish one or more additional standing committees or ad hoc committees of the Board.

(b) Except as otherwise provided herein or by resolution of the Board, the President shall appoint the chairperson and members of each committee of the Board, each of whom shall be a Trustee. No more than two (2) members of any committee may be from a single Commission. The President may designate one or more Trustees as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee.

(c) A majority of the Trustees in office appointed to a Committee shall be present at each meeting to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the acts of a majority of the Trustees in office appointed to a committee shall be the acts of the committee.

(d) Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings and report such proceedings periodically to the Board of Trustees.

(e) The Executive Vice President shall be an *ex officio*, non-voting member of each committee of the Board.

Section 4.12. Executive Committee.

(a) The Executive Committee shall be comprised of the President, the Immediate Past President, the Vice President, the Treasurer and the Secretary. The President shall be the chairperson of the Executive Committee.

(b) The Executive Committee shall set the preliminary agenda for all Board meetings, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board of Trustees between meetings thereof (except as to the amendment, restatement or repeal of these Bylaws), and shall meet as frequently as may be required to carry out its responsibilities.

Section 4.13. Finance Committee.

(a) The Finance Committee shall be comprised of the Treasurer and such additional members as are appointed by the President pursuant to Section 4.11(b) hereof. The Treasurer shall be the chairperson of the Finance Committee.

(b) The Finance Committee shall advise the Treasurer with respect to financial, budgetary and related matters and shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to it by the Board of Trustees or the President.

Section 4.14. Human Resources Committee.

(a) The Human Resources Committee shall be comprised of such members as are appointed by the President pursuant to Section 4.11(b) hereof. The President shall appoint the chairperson of the Human Resources Committee.

(b) The Human Resources Committee shall advise the President and the appropriate officers of the Association and may advise the Commissions as to personnel matters, including without limitation benefits and tax matters.

Section 4.15. Policy Committee.

(a) The Policy Committee shall be comprised of such members as are appointed by the President pursuant to Section 4.11(b) hereof. The President shall appoint the chairperson of the Policy Committee.

(b) The Policy Committee shall recommend to the Board the creation of and any modifications to the Association's policy handbook and the resolution of conflicts between and among the Commissions and issues pertaining to requirements imposed upon the Association and the Commissions by the federal, state and local governments, including issues arising because of conflicts between such requirements and these Bylaws or other operating procedures of the Association.

Section 4.16. Nominating Committee.

(a) The Nominating Committee shall be comprised of such members as are appointed by the President pursuant to Section 4.11(b) hereof. The President shall appoint the chairperson of the Nominating Committee.

(b) The Nominating Committee shall nominate the officers of the Association to be elected by the Board of Trustees (including the Treasurer, Secretary, Assistant Treasurer and Assistant Secretary) and members of the Board of Trustees designated by the Commissions.

ARTICLE V OFFICERS AND STAFF

Section 5.01. Number and Designations.

The officers of the Association shall be a President, the Immediate Past President, a Vice President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and one or more Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries.

Section 5.02. Election, Appointment and Term of Office.

(a) The Board of Trustees shall elect a Vice President biennially. The right to nominate candidates for the office of Vice President shall rotate biennially among the three Commissions. Upon each election of a new Vice President, the succeeded Vice President shall automatically succeed to the office of President and the current President shall automatically succeed to the office of Immediate Past President. The Board of Trustees shall appoint a Treasurer and a Secretary.

(b) The President, Immediate Past President and Vice President each shall serve twoyear terms following their election or succession to such offices, as the case may be, and until their successors are elected and qualified or otherwise succeed to such office. The terms of office of the President, Vice President and Immediate Past President shall commence on the January 1 immediately succeeding the election of the Vice President. The Treasurer shall serve a term not to exceed four (4) years following his or her appointment to such office and until his or her successor is appointed. The Secretary shall serve a two-year term following his or her appointment to such office and until his or her successor is appointed. The term of office of the Treasurer and the Secretary shall commence on the January 1 immediately succeeding such officer's appointment to office by the Board of Trustees.

Section 5.03. Subordinate Officers and Agents.

(a) The Board of Trustees may appoint and fix the salary of an Executive Vice President, whose duties and responsibilities shall be as established by the Board of Trustees. The Executive Vice President of the Association also shall be an Assistant Secretary.

(b) The Board of Trustees may from time to time elect such other officers and appoint such employees or other agents as the business of the Association may require, including one or more Assistant Secretaries, and one or more Assistant Treasurers, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as are provided in these Bylaws, or as the Board of Trustees may from time to time determine. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Board of Trustees may delegate to the President the power to elect other subordinate officers and to retain or appoint employees or other agents of the Association, and to prescribe the authority and duties of such subordinate officers, employees or other agents.

Section 5.04. Resignation and Removal.

Any officer may resign at any time upon written notice to the Association. The Board of Trustees may remove any officer with cause at any time. For purposes of this Section 5.04,

"cause" shall mean: (a) the willful and continued failure or refusal by such officer to perform his or her duties and responsibilities; (b) the willful misconduct by such officer which is demonstrably and materially injurious to the Association, monetarily or otherwise, or which results or is intended to result in personal gain or enrichment at the expense of the Association; (c) such officer's conviction of or plea of no contest to a felony or crime involving moral turpitude; or (d) such other circumstances specified in any agreement between such officer and the Association.

Section 5.05. Vacancy.

(a) A vacancy occurring in the office of President by death, resignation, removal or otherwise, shall be filled by the current Vice President.

(b) A vacancy occurring in the office of Vice President because of the succession of the current Vice President to the office of President in accordance with Section 5.05(a), shall be filled by the Board of Trustees for the unexpired portion of the term by a nominee proposed by the Commission entitled under Section 5.02(a) to nominate the successor to the current Vice President. Upon the expiration of such term, the individual appointed to such vacancy shall succeed to further office in accordance with Section 5.02.

(c) A vacancy occurring in the office of Vice President by death, resignation, removal or otherwise (other than a vacancy occurring because of the succession of the current Vice President to the office of President in accordance with Section 5.05(a)), shall be filled by the Board of Trustees for the unexpired portion of the term by a nominee proposed by the Commission that nominated the current Vice President. Upon the expiration of such term, the individual appointed to such vacancy shall succeed to further office in accordance with Section 5.02.

(d) A vacancy occurring in any office described in Section 5.03 by death, resignation, removal or otherwise, may be filed by the Board of Trustees for the unexpired portion of the term, at which time the Board may appoint such individual to a regular term of office.

Section 5.06. The President.

The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association and shall have general supervision over the activities and operations of the Association, subject to the control of the Board of Trustees. The President shall (a) execute and acknowledge, in the name of the Association, contracts or other instruments authorized by the Board, except if the execution thereof has been expressly delegated by the Board or these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Association; (b) preside at meetings of the Association and the Board of Trustees; (c) appoint members of such special committees as may be authorized by the Board of Trustees; (d) attend or designate an officer, agent or Trustee of the Association to attend Commission meetings in a nonvoting capacity; and (e) perform such other duties incident as are to the office of President. Section 5.07. The Vice President.

The Vice President shall, in the absence of the President, perform the duties of the President, and such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the President.

Section 5.08. The Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall:

(a) Report directly to the Board of Trustees;

(b) Be responsible for the overall financial affairs of the Association, in accordance with policies and procedures established by the Board of Trustees;

(c) Review the fiscal budgets of the Association for approval by the Board of Trustees;

(d) Cause an annual audit of all Association and Commission finances to be conducted and reported to the Board of Trustees;

(e) Be responsible for keeping the Board of Trustees and the Executive Committee fully and currently informed with respect to the financial affairs of the Association and the Commissions; and

(f) Be available to the Commissions and the Board for consultation on all matters involving finances of the Association and the Commissions.

Section 5.09. Assistant Treasurer.

Any Assistant Treasurer shall, in the absence of the Treasurer, perform the duties of the Treasurer and such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the President.

Section 5.10. The Secretary.

The Secretary shall:

(a) Attend all meetings of the Board of Trustees, Committees of the Board and members of the Association;

(b) Record the minutes of all meetings of the Board of Trustees, Committees of the Board and members of the Association and all votes by the voting members of the Board;

(c) Provide notices of all meetings of the Board of Trustees, Committees of the Board and members of the Association, as required by applicable law and these Bylaws;

(d) Keep and maintain all records and reports of the Association in accordance with applicable law and these Bylaws and maintain custody of the seal of the Association and affix the same as and when authorized by the Board of Trustees and these Bylaws; and

11

(e) Perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may from time to time be assigned by the Board of Trustees or the President.

Section 5.11. Assistant Secretary.

Any Assistant Secretary shall, in the absence of the Secretary, perform the duties of the Secretary and such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the President.

ARTICLE VI THE COMMISSIONS AND ACCREDITATION

Section 6.01. Commissions.

(a) There are three separate and independent accrediting units known as Commissions: (i) the MSCHE, which is responsible for the evaluation and accreditation of postsecondary institutions and programs; (ii) the MSCSS, which is responsible for the evaluation and accreditation of institutions providing middle and/or secondary education; and (iii) the MSCES, which is responsible for the evaluation and accreditation of institutions providing middle, elementary and/or early age education.

(b) No Commission may delegate its accreditation and related activities described in this Article VI to any other agency or entity.

(c) Joint Committees, such as the Committee on Institution-Wide Accreditation, may be formed to act on behalf of Commissions to evaluate and recommend the granting of accreditation to their respective Commissions.

(d) Any Commission may join with other regional accrediting or other agencies or entities within or without the United States to promote its general purpose.

(e) The Board of Trustees may recommend to the constituency(ies) or other Commission(s) that may be affected, for its (their) review and approval, the establishment of any other Commission or organizational structure to carry out the work of the Association.

(f) Notwithstanding any provision of these Bylaws to the contrary, each Commission shall have the authority and the obligation to establish such policies, committees and procedures concerning the accreditation of institutions and programs as may be required to comply with requirements of governmental agencies mandating that such Commission be separate and independent from the Association and the other Commissions as to such matters.

(g) Each Commission shall pay its proportionate share of the costs and expenses of administration and occupancy of the Association pursuant to the budgets and methodology approved in accordance with Section 4.01.

Section 6.02. Authority.

(a) *Accreditation*. As an "other body" as defined in Section 5103 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law and subject to the provisions in Section 5734 of that Law, including

the fiduciary duty provision, each Commission shall have separate and independent authority over accreditation and accreditation-related activities, including without limitation the responsibility to:

(i) By accreditation, evaluation, consultation-, training, policy development and in all other appropriate ways, promote the welfare and improvement of education, with special emphasis upon service to member and candidate institutions, but without limitation to these institutions.

(ii) Publish in writing or electronically lists of accredited and candidate educational institutions and programs in accordance with standards adopted by the Commission.

(iii) Adopt standards and changes thereto for the accreditation of educational institutions and programs, especially such modifications as will promote continued improvement in the effectiveness of member and candidate institutions and programs.

(iv) Cooperate in appropriate ways with similar bodies in other regional, national and international associations.

(v) Subject to law, lawful court order, or decision by the Commission or its Executive Committee, keep the records relating to the evaluation or accreditation of any present, prospective, or former member of the Commission confidential. Such records shall not be disclosed outside the Commission without the prior written consent of the governing authority of the institution concerned or where a Commission has adopted provisions with respect thereto.

(vi) Other than the report of a visiting team and Commission minutes relating to an accreditation action by such Commission, no document relating to such action shall be released to the institution itself without approval by the Commission, its Executive Committee or its designee. The Commission and the Board of Trustees shall cooperate with respect to such matters when a matter of principle affecting another Commission of the Association may be involved.

(b) *Operations*. As an "other body" as defined in Section 5103 of the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law and subject to the provisions in Section 5734 of that Law, including the fiduciary duty provision, each Commission shall have the separate and independent authority to:

(i) Appoint a President of the Commission who shall be its chief administrative officer. The President of the Commission may execute and acknowledge, in the name of the Association, contracts or other agreements relating to accreditation and related activities that have been expressly delegated by the Board or these Bylaws to the Commission and for which the segregated dues and assets of the Commission shall be used for payment.

(ii) Appoint other professional staff officers, employees, including support personnel, and independent contractors, and determine all personnel matters relating thereto, including, without limitation, dismissal, promotion, payments of all kind (within the limitations of the Commission's annual budget), termination, and job description. (iii) Conduct the nomination and election of Commission members at the annual meeting of the Commission or by proxy ballot in accordance with Business policies and procedures established by the Commission.

(iv) Elect annually a Chair and Vice Chair from the Commission membership. Officers are eligible for re-election up to a maximum of six years, provided they are elected to additional three-year terms as Commissioners in accordance with the procedures established by the Commission, but in no case shall the total length of service on the Commission exceed nine years of consecutive service.

(v) Elect annually other members of the Commission in accordance with the procedures established by the Commission who, together with the Chair and Vice Chair, shall comprise an Executive Committee which shall exercise the functions of the Commission between meetings thereof, and shall meet with its President of the Commission as frequently as may be required to carry out its responsibilities.

(vi) Assure periodic evaluation of the Commission's operations and performance through the use of appropriate internal and external constituencies and communities of interest.

(vii) Designate a nominating committee for the election of the Commissioners, with such rules as each such Commission shall determine from time to time.

(viii) Develop, adopt and administer the Commission's operating and capital budgets, which budgets shall include such Commission's proportionate share of the Association's common administration and occupancy expenses under the methodology approved in accordance with Section 4.01;

(ix) Assess Commission dues and direct the Association's billing and collection of such dues, to be billed separately from any dues billed by the Association and deposited in a segregated account established for such Commission;

(x) Hold regional or other meetings at which action may be taken for proposal to the Board of Trustees for its determination at any annual, regular or special meeting thereof. Such business of the Commissions may be proposed to the membership of the affected Commission according to procedures that shall be established by the Commission and disseminated in advance to the appropriate membership.

(xi) Hold regional or other meetings for the purpose of discussing issues of topical interest to the Commissions, consistent with Article I hereof.

(xii) Determine other aspects of its internal affairs, including, but not limited to, its operating rules and personnel matters.

(xiii) Through its Commissioners, take any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Commissioners without a meeting, if all Commissioners consent thereto in writing and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Commission.

Section 6.03. Commission Membership.

(a) Each Commission shall have the authority to establish a membership adequate to carry out its purposes.

(b) Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the members of a Commission shall serve a three-year term. Members shall be elected to a three-year term by a majority vote of a Commission's voting constituents and, thereafter, may be elected for one successive three-year term. In addition, a Commission, in accordance with procedures established by such Commission, may appoint a Commission member to fill a vacancy in its membership for the unexpired portion of the term of the member who has been replaced. Where required by applicable law or regulations, at least one-seventh of the members shall be elected who do not currently hold professional positions in education and who are broadly representative of the public interest. The remaining members shall be currently active professional and administrative staff of member institutions and shall be elected with consideration to geographical and institutional distribution reflective of the Commission's constituents and other levels of educational institutions.

(c) Each Commission shall determine the circumstances in which its own Commissioners may be removed, whether for non-attendance or any other reason.

ARTICLE VII REVIEW AND APPEAL PROCEDURES

Section 7.01. Each Commission shall establish written, fair and expeditious procedures for processing appeals. Such procedures shall be published in appropriate documents of each Commission.

ARTICLE VIII INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.01. Indemnification.

The Association shall indemnify, to the full extent that it shall have power under applicable law to do so and in a manner permitted by such law, any person made or threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (hereinafter, a "Proceeding"), by reason of the fact that such person is or was a Trustee, Officer, employee or agent of the Association, a Commission or Member of a Commission. If such action arises out of the actions of a Commission under Article VI of these bylaws, any uninsured costs or expenses shall be indemnified out of the segregated account of the appropriate Commission. The Association shall be required to indemnify a person in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person only if the proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board of Trustees of the Association. Section 8.02. Advancement of Expenses.

(a) With respect to any person made or threatened to be made a part of any Proceeding, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a Trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Association, Commission or Member of a Commission, the Association or a Commission (with respect to actions relating to actions of a Commission under Article VI) shall, in its discretion and upon such terms and conditions as the Association or a Commission deems appropriate, pay the reasonable expenses (including attorneys fees) incurred by such person in defending any such Proceeding in advance of its final disposition (hereinafter an "advancement of expenses").

(b) Any advancement of expenses under this Section shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by such person to repay all amounts advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal that such person is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses under this Article VIII or otherwise.

Section 8.03. Contract Right and Enforcement.

The right of Trustees, officers, employees and agents of the Association-, a Commission or Member of a Commission under Section 8.01 hereof to indemnification shall be a contract right. If a Trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Association-, Commission or Member of a Commission is successful in whole or in part in any suit seeking to enforce or determine such Trustee's, officer's, employee's or agent's right to indemnification pursuant to Section 8.01 hereof, such Trustee, officer, employee or agent shall also be entitled to be paid by the Association or the Commission, from its segregated account if not covered by insurance, the reasonable expenses (including attorneys fees) of prosecuting or defending such suit.

Section 8.04. Nonexclusivity.

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided in this Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which any person indemnified may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of disinterested Trustees, or otherwise, both as to action in such person's official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be such Trustee, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, Commission or Member of a Commission, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, and administrators of such person.

Section 8.05. Insurance.

The Association shall purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a Trustee, officer, employee, or agent of the Association-, a Commission or Member of a Commission against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the Association or a Commission would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of this Article VIII or otherwise.

ARTICLE IX AMENDMENTS

Section 9.01. Scope of Amendments.

Anything in these Bylaws to the contrary notwithstanding, no amendment to the Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation shall permit the Association to conduct its affairs in a manner inconsistent with Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or other applicable laws.

Section 9.02. Proposed Amendments and Adoption.

(a) Bylaw Amendments

The Board of Trustees, by the affirmative vote of at least three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Board of Trustees at any duly constituted regular meeting or special meeting, may alter, amend, or repeal any bylaw, provided that written notice of the proposal of such amendment, alteration, or repeal has been given to all members of the Board of Trustees at least ten (10) days prior to such meeting. No amendment to Articles IV, VI, Section 3.01(d) relating to the designation of each Commission as an "other body" under Pennsylvania law or this section shall be effective unless and until each Commission has approved the amendment(s). Commission approval means an affirmative vote of a majority of the Commission members present and voting at a duly called Commission meeting.

(b) Articles of Incorporation Amendments

(i) The voting members of the Board of Trustees, as the members of the Association, by an affirmative vote of at least three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members at any duly constituted regular or special meeting of the members of the Association, may amend the Articles of Incorporation of the Association, provided that written notice of the proposal of such amendment, together with a copy of the proposed amendment or a summary thereof, has been given to all members of the Association at least ten (10) days prior to such meeting.

(ii) Upon approval of such proposed amendment, Articles of Amendment may be executed, acknowledged, and filed with the Secretary of State of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and, when filed, shall be effective in accordance with the requirements of Pennsylvania law.

Section 9.03. Fundamental Transactions and Changes.

(a) A merger, consolidation, sale of substantially all assets, division or dissolution, shall require the consent of three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Board of Trustees.

(b) The withdrawal of an existing Commission (other than a for cause departure as defined in the December ___, 2010 Memorandum of Understanding) or the admission of a new Commission, shall require the consent of three-quarters (3/4) of the voting members of the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.01. Fiscal Year.

The fiscal year of the Association shall begin the first of July of each year and end on the thirtieth day of June next succeeding.

Section 10.02. Prohibited Activities.

The Association is prohibited from carrying on propaganda, attempting to influence legislation, and participating in or intervening in any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. This prohibition of political activities includes the publishing or distributing of statements on behalf of any candidate. The Association is not empowered to carry on, as a substantial part of its activities, any activities which are not in furtherance of its exempt educational and charitable purposes.

Section 10.03. Conflicts of Interest.

It shall continue to be the policy of the Association, the Board of Trustees and the Commissions that all Trustees shall avoid any conflict or appearance of conflict between personal interests and the interests of the Association and/or any of the Commissions. Such policy is as follows:

(a) All Trustees shall disclose any possible conflict of interest, at the earliest practicable time, in a full disclosure statement satisfactory to the Board.

(b) No Trustee shall vote on any matter under consideration in which he or she has a possible conflict of interest. A Trustee may, however, be counted for purposes of determining the quorum for the meeting. The minutes of such meeting shall reflect that a disclosure was made and that the individual having a possible conflict of interest abstained from voting. It shall not be a conflict of interest for a Trustee appointed by a Commission to vote upon a matter that may impact such Commission, including a vote to withdraw under Section 9.03(b).

(c) Any Trustee shall be considered to have a possible conflict of interest with respect to a matter before the Board of Trustees if such individual: (i) has an existing or potential substantial financial or other interest which impairs or might appear to impair independent unbiased judgment in discharging responsibilities to the Association; (ii) has any direct or indirect affiliation with an institution or program which is the subject of a proposed or actual accrediting decision; or (iii) is aware that a member of his or her immediate family, or any organization in which he or she or an immediate family member is an officer, director, employee, members, partner, trustee, or controlling stockholder, has such existing or potential financial or other interest.

(d) Any Trustee who is uncertain whether he or she has a possible conflict of interest in any matter may request that the Board determine whether such possible conflict exists, whereupon the Board shall resolve the question by a majority vote. (e) All candidates for membership on the Board shall be advised of this policy prior to assuming their responsibilities as members. Each existing or future Trustee shall execute the following statement, to be filed with the Board:

"I hereby certify that I have read and understand the policy set forth in Section 10.03 of the Bylaws, and further state that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, I do not have any interest nor will I take any action which would constitute a conflict of interest under such policy, other than an actual or potential conflict of interest which has been duly disclosed and for which waiver has been granted."

Section 10.04. Assets of the Association.

In the event of the dissolution of the Association, its assets shall be distributed in accordance with applicable law to one or more exempt educational organizations whose purposes are similar to those of the Association, and in no event to members of the Association.